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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Case No. 1:22-cv-24066-KMM 
 
GRACE, INC.; ENGAGE MIAMI, INC.; 
SOUTH DADE BRANCH OF THE NAACP; 
MIAMI-DADE BRANCH OF THE NAACP; 
CLARICE COOPER; YANELIS VALDES; 
JARED JOHNSON; ALEXANDRA 
CONTRERAS; and STEVEN MIRO, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
CITY OF MIAMI, 
 
 Defendant. 

 

 / 
 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

1. Bis action challenges the five Miami City Commission districts as racially 

gerrymandered in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause. But Miami’s 

is not merely a run-of-the-mill racial gerrymander in which the majority seeks to diminish minority 

voters’ influence and power. Rather, it is the product of a calculated scheme in which communities 

and neighborhoods were split along racial lines for the predominant purpose of maintaining 

racially segregated districts. As Commissioner Alex Díaz de la Portilla put it: “Our goal here is to 

have an African American district, . . . a white district, . . . and three Hispanic districts.” 

2. Indeed, as detailed below, race-based considerations were not simply a factor in 

redrawing district lines; they were the predominant factor. Race was the predominant factor in 

maintaining arbitrary racial quotas for certain districts. It was the predominant factor in packing 

certain districts with as many Hispanic and Black residents as possible. It was the predominant 

factor in maintaining racial “purity” with the “same type of last name and faces.” It was the 

predominant factor resulting in diminished Black and Hispanic influence. And it was the 
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predominant factor in the Commission’s overt command that Black, Hispanic, and Anglo residents 

must be separated as much as possible into different districts because, in the Commission’s view, 

each race needs to be represented by a co-ethnic, irrespective of communities, interests, and values. 

3. Be predominance of race-based thinking in the City Commission’s decisions does 

not advance representation and cannot be justified by compliance with the Voting Rights Act or 

any other compelling interest. 

4. Stated simply, Miami’s racially gerrymandered redistricting scheme violates 

Plaintiffs’ rights to the equal protection of the laws. Bey bring suit to vindicate those rights. 

INTRODUCTION 

5. On March 24, 2022, the Miami City Commission passed Resolution 22-131 (the 

“Enacted Plan”), redrawing the City Commission districts for the next decade. Mayor Francis X. 

Suarez declined to veto it, allowing the new map to go into effect for the next regularly scheduled 

City Commission elections on November 7, 2023. 

6. Plaintiffs—four community and civil rights organizations and five individual 

Miamians—bring suit to challenge all five City Commission districts as racially gerrymandered in 

violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

7. While redistricting bodies “will . . . almost always be aware of racial 

demographics,” Miller v. Johnson, 515 U.S. 900, 916 (1995), and are often required to look at race 

in drawing maps, the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the unnecessary centering of race in 

redistricting decisions. 

8. Map-drawing in which race predominates, subordinating traditional, race-neutral 

redistricting considerations to racial decision-making, is presumptively invalid under the Equal 

Protection Clause. Bis type of excessively race-based line drawing is constitutional only where it 
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satisfies strict scrutiny—where it is narrowly tailored to advance a compelling government interest. 

Be Enacted Plan falls far short of this exacting standard. 

9. In developing the Enacted Plan, the Commission impermissibly elevated race 

above all other considerations. Commissioners and their consultants obsessed over an overriding 

racial goal: isolating Black from Hispanic from Anglo residents as much as possible into separate 

districts. 

10. In so doing, the Commission not only reduced the interests of Black, Hispanic, and 

Anglo Miamians to their race, but also ignored the interests of Miami’s 14,000 American Indian, 

Asian American, and Pacific Islander residents, who were never once considered in the process. 

11. In furtherance of its goal of maximum racial separation, race dictated even the most 

granular line-drawing decisions in the Enacted Plan. Be Commission was preoccupied by racial 

considerations, agonizing over the effects of minute changes on the racial composition of the 

districts, even debating the racial implications of moving individual city blocks and condo towers. 

12. Be Commission presented no compelling governmental interest to justify this 

racial sorting. Compliance with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act (VRA) is one of the few 

permissible justifications for allowing race to predominate when drawing district lines. But the 

Commission was not entitled to set racial targets based on uninformed guesses of what VRA 

compliance might look like. It was instead required to actually assess what VRA compliance 

involved. Be Commission never attempted to do that. Nor do any facts indicate the Enacted Plan 

is necessary to achieve VRA compliance. 

13. Be resulting harm to Plaintiffs is acute, and threefold. First, racial gerrymandering 

“reinforces racial stereotypes and threatens to undermine our system of representative democracy 

by signaling to elected officials that they represent a particular racial group rather than their 
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constituency as a whole.” Shaw v. Reno, 509 U.S. 630, 650 (1993). 

14. Second, Plaintiffs are further harmed because, in pursuit of its racial goals, the 

Commission sacrificed genuine communities of interest, dividing neighborhoods across the city. 

Coconut Grove, Little Havana, Flagami, Allapattah, Shenandoah, Omni/Downtown, Brickell, and 

others were broken up. Commissioners explicitly acknowledged dividing these communities to 

maintain and enhance the racial separation of the five districts. 

15. And third, the Commission’s racial gerrymandering packed Black and Hispanic 

voters into designated districts, stripping them from adjacent districts and reducing their influence 

there. 

16. Be Commission was on notice of the unjustness of its work. Miamians—including 

many of the Plaintiffs in this suit—stepped up to call out the Commission’s blatantly 

unconstitutional actions. But they were ignored. 

17. Indeed, the Commission’s consultant responded to the public outcry with a 

PowerPoint slide bluntly titled: “Allegations of Racism are False and Inflammatory.” 

18. His PowerPoint was wrong. Be Commission’s intentional sorting by race, absent 

narrow tailoring to achieve a compelling governmental interest, violates the Equal Protection 

Clause and renders the map—all five districts—an unconstitutional racial gerrymander. 

PARTIES 

19. Plaintiff GROVE RIGHTS AND COMMUNITY EQUITY, INC. (GRACE) is a 

nonprofit community-based membership organization serving Miami’s West Coconut Grove 

neighborhood since 2019. GRACE advocates for equitable economic development while 

preserving the historic culture and community of the West Grove. GRACE’s members, most of 

whom are Black, reside in Commission Districts 2 and 4. 
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20. Plaintiff ENGAGE MIAMI, INC. is a nonprofit membership organization centering 

young people’s participation in civic engagement, with members who are largely Gen Z and 

Millennial Black and Latino Miamians who reside in all five districts. Founded in 2015, the 

mission of Engage Miami is to build a more just, democratic, and sustainable Miami by developing 

a local culture of civic participation for young people that is bold, creative, and impactful. 

21. Plaintiff SOUTH DADE BRANCH OF THE NAACP (South Dade NAACP) is a 

nonprofit membership organization serving Miami-Dade County south of Flagler Street. 

22. Plaintiff MIAMI-DADE BRANCH OF THE NAACP (Miami-Dade NAACP) is a 

nonprofit membership organization serving Miami-Dade County north of Flagler Street. 

23. Be South Dade NAACP and Miami-Dade NAACP (together, NAACP Branches) 

are affiliate branches of the Florida State Conference of Branches and Youth Units of the NAACP, 

the oldest civil rights organization in the state, formed in 1909. Beir mission is to ensure the 

political, educational, social, and economic equality of rights of all persons and to eliminate race-

based discrimination. Consistent with this mission, the NAACP Branches advocate for the voting 

rights of African Americans and other voters of color in Miami, including their members. Be 

NAACP Branches’ members—most of whom are Black—reside in all five districts (the South 

Dade NAACP’s in Districts 2, 3, and 4; the Miami-Dade NAACP’s in Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5). 

24. If the Enacted Plan is not enjoined, the members of GRACE, Engage Miami, and 

the NAACP Branches (together, “Organizational Plaintiffs”) will be harmed by living and voting 

in unconstitutionally racially gerrymandered districts. 

25. Plaintiff CLARICE COOPER is a Black resident of the West Grove in District 2. 

26. Plaintiff JARED JOHNSON is a Black resident of Brickell in District 3. 

27. Plaintiff STEVEN MIRO is a Hispanic, Cuban American resident of Little Havana 
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in District 3. 

28. Plaintiff ALEXANDRA CONTRERAS is a Latina, Cuban American resident of 

Little Havana in District 4. 

29. Plaintiff YANELIS VALDES is a Latina, Cuban American resident of 

Omni/Downtown in District 5. 

30. Be Enacted Plan places Plaintiffs Cooper, Johnson, and Valdes, and 

Organizational Plaintiffs’ members, in districts where they are not the predominant racial group. 

Be Enacted Plan sends the message that their commissioner’s job is to represent the predominant 

group, not them. 

31. Be Enacted Plan places Plaintiffs Miro and Contreras, and Organizational 

Plaintiffs’ members, in districts where they are the predominant racial group. Be Enacted Plan 

sends the message that they were placed in their districts simply because of their race. 

32. Individual Plaintiffs and Organizational Plaintiffs’ members are further harmed 

because the Enacted Plan splits up their neighborhoods—and they are split along racial lines. 

33. Defendant CITY OF MIAMI is a Florida municipality. As a municipal corporation 

established under Florida law, Miami has the authority to regulate and conduct its elections, 

including establishing its Commission district boundaries, consistent with state law. Fla. Const. 

art. VIII, §§ 2(b), 3; Fla. Stat. § 100.3605; Miami Code of Ordinances (City Code) ch. 16. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

34. Bis Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 2201, and 2202, as well 

as 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, because this action arises under the Constitution and laws of the 

United States. 

35. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Florida under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 
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because the Defendant resides in this District and a substantial part of the events giving rise to the 

claim occurred in this District. 

36. Bis Court has personal jurisdiction over the City of Miami. 

FACTS 

I.  Overview of the City Commission and Its Elections 

37. Miami is governed by a five-member City Commission and a Mayor. Miami City 

Charter (Charter) § 4(a). 

38. Except where the Charter provides otherwise, municipal elections are conducted 

according to the state’s general election laws. Id. § 7. 

39. Since 1997, commissioners have been elected from single-member districts. Id. 

§ 4(b). 

40. Commissioners run on a nonpartisan basis and serve four-year staggered terms, 

with Districts 1, 2, and 4 last elected in 2019 and next up in 2023, and Districts 3 and 5 last elected 

in 2021 and next up in 2025. Id. 

41. General municipal elections are held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in 

November of odd-numbered years. Id. § 7. 

42. If no candidate receives a majority in the general election, a runoff between the top-

two vote-getters is held fourteen days later. Id. 

43. Candidates file to run by filing an affidavit of candidacy with the City Clerk during 

the qualifying period, which is between 60 and 45 days before the general election. Id. 

44. For the 2023 election, candidate qualifying opens on September 8 and closes at 

6:00 pm on September 23. 

45. Candidates may qualify by paying the $100 fee by the end of the qualifying period, 
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or by the petition method. Id.; Fla. Stat. § 99.095. 

46. To qualify by petition, a candidate must, by the 28th day preceding the first day of 

the qualifying period, submit petitions signed by at least one percent of the total number of 

registered voters in their district as of the last state general election. Fla. Stat. § 99.095(2)(a), (3). 

47. However, the state’s general election laws provide that in “a year of 

apportionment,” a candidate may collect the requisite number of signatures from anywhere in the 

jurisdiction, regardless of district boundaries. Id. § 99.095(2)(d). 

48. Regardless of whether a candidate qualifies by fee or petition, they must also pay a 

$582 state election assessment. Id. § 99.093. 

49. However, a candidate is exempt from paying the qualifying fee and/or election 

assessment if doing so would impose an undue burden on their resources. Id. § 99.093(2); City 

Code § 16-7. In these cases, a candidate may qualify without paying the fee or submitting petitions. 

50. Be current commissioners are Alex Díaz de la Portilla (District 1), Joe Carollo 

(District 3), Manolo Reyes (District 4), and Christine King (District 5). Be District 2 

commissioner during the 2021–22 redistricting process was Ken Russell, but the seat has been 

vacant since December 29, 2022. 

51. Díaz de la Portilla, Carollo, and Reyes are Hispanic and Cuban American. King is 

Black and not Hispanic. Russell is Japanese American and not Hispanic.  

52. Commissioners are limited to two consecutive terms. Charter § 4. 

53. Díaz de la Portilla was first elected in 2019 and is eligible for reelection in 2023. 

54. King was first elected in 2021 and is eligible for reelection in 2025. 

55. Reyes was first elected in a 2017 special election and is eligible for reelection when 

his current term ends in 2023. 
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56. Carollo was first elected in 2017 and cannot run for reelection when his current 

term ends in 2025. 

57. Before the redistricting process began, Russell planned to resign from the 

Commission to run for higher office in the 2022 election. 

58. Russell ran for Congress in the 2022 election and resigned on December 29, 2022. 

II.  Miami Redistricting History 

59. Before 1997, the Commission was elected at-large, citywide. 

60. Carollo served as Mayor from 1996 to 1997, and in 1997, he appointed a blue-

ribbon panel to recommend a single-member district map for the Commission. 

61. Among the members of the blue-ribbon panel were Reyes and Miguel De Grandy. 

62. Be blue-ribbon panel made recommendations and the Commission further 

developed a map with the assistance of redistricting consultant Allan Lichtman. 

63. Be Commission adopted its 1997 map as Resolution 97-495 (the “1997 Plan”). 

64. In September 1997, the voters adopted a charter amendment adopting single-

member district elections. Be 1997 Plan was implemented in the November 1997 elections. 

65. Be Commission redistricted the map in 2003 and 2013 through Resolutions 03-448 

and 13-208 (the “2003 Plan” and “2013 Plan”). 

66. Miguel De Grandy and Stephen M. Cody served as the city’s redistricting 

consultants for the 2003 and 2013 processes. 

III.  Oe 2021–22 Redistricting Process 

67. Following the 2020 Census, the Commission again embarked on redistricting. 

68. On February 25, 2021, the Commission again hired De Grandy and Cody to serve 

as the City’s redistricting consultants. 
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69. Be process proceeded through six Commission meetings between November 18, 

2021 and March 24, 2022. 

70. During these meetings, De Grandy—assisted by Cody—gave presentations on the 

law and brought draft maps for commissioners to workshop. 

A.  1e November 18, 2021 Meeting 

71. At the November 18 meeting, De Grandy presented an initial report on redistricting 

considerations and the 2020 Census demographics of the districts under the 2013 Plan. 

 
Fig. 1. Miami City Commission districts under the 2013 Plan. 

Case 1:22-cv-24066-KMM   Document 23   Entered on FLSD Docket 02/10/2023   Page 10 of 55



 11 

72. Be Census data revealed that Miami’s population had grown by 42,752 residents 

over the decade, to 442,241. Be ideal population of each Commission district was now 88,448. 

73. De Grandy shared that redistricting was needed to bring the districts within the 

constitutionally allowable population range, to have no greater than 10% difference between the 

smallest and largest district. 

74. Analyzing the 2013 Plan under the 2020 Census numbers, Districts 1, 3, 4, and 5 

were each under the ideal population (by 6,999; 8,279; 7,847; and 5,707 people, respectively) and 

needed to gain population. 

75. District 2 was overpopulated by 28,833 residents and needed to shed population. 

76. Under the 2013 Plan, Districts 1, 3, and 4 were majority Hispanic, with Hispanic 

voting-age populations (HVAPs) of 91.0, 88.5, and 91.6%, respectively, and Hispanic citizen 

voting-age populations (HCVAPs) of 86.6, 86.8, and 90.1%, respectively.1 

77. Under the 2013 Plan, District 5 was majority Black, with a Black voting-age 

population (BVAP) of 52.9% and a Black citizen voting-age population (BCVAP) of 59.4%. 

78. District 2 under the 2013 Plan had the highest non-Hispanic white (hereinafter 

“white” or “Anglo”) population of the five districts, at 34.5% white voting-age population 

(WVAP) and 38.1% white citizen voting-age population (WCVAP). 

79. De Grandy explained the applicability of the Voting Rights Act to Miami and that 

“we can consider race as one of several factors that we will be conscious of in crafting a plan.” 

80. De Grandy warned, however, that under the Supreme Court’s racial 

 
1  Total population and voting-age population figures cited herein are from the 2020 Census.  
 
Citizen voting-age population figures are from the Census Bureau’s 2019 5-year American  
 
Community Survey (ACS). 
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gerrymandering jurisprudence, race “cannot be the overriding factor.” 

81. Be Commission ignored De Grandy’s warning as the process unfolded. 

82. Be Commission gave De Grandy four ranked directives for map-drafting. Be first, 

moved by King, was to achieve substantial equality of population between districts, rather than 

precise mathematical equality. 

83. Be second-ranked criterion, moved by Díaz de la Portilla, was to “maintain the 

core constituencies of the districts.” 

84. Be third-ranked instruction, moved by Carollo, was that, separate from what the 

VRA required, “the minority voters must be politically cohesive.” Be phrase “political cohesion” 

was subsequently used throughout the process as a shorthand for keeping racially homogenous 

areas together. 

85. Be fourth-ranked instruction was to avoid splitting traditional communities and 

neighborhoods when feasible. 

86. However, Díaz de la Portilla noted that some neighborhoods could be divided if 

they “will elect the same kind of representative,” for example Flagami—which is overwhelmingly 

Hispanic—being split between Reyes and himself. But, he said, putting part of Overtown or 

Liberty City (both predominantly Black) in his district would be unacceptable. 

87. Also at that meeting, Carollo recounted why single-member City Commission 

districts were instituted when he was Mayor: “Be original idea” was “to keep an even population 

and that minority voters would be politically cohesive within these districts,” so that “there would 

be an African American sitting in this Commission and there would be an Anglo,” and “that there 

were three Hispanic districts.” And he explained that during the 2022 redistricting, each district 

would have to change to carry forward that “original idea.” 
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B.  1e December 9, 2021 Meeting 

88. Be Commission met again on December 9, with De Grandy recapping his 

instructions and commissioners discussing what areas might be moved between districts. 

89. Some of the key elements of the Enacted Plan’s racial gerrymandering originated 

at this meeting. 

90. Díaz de la Portilla stated that underpopulated Districts 3 and 4 would have to gain 

from overpopulated District 2, and cautioned De Grandy to add to each only “peripherally, a little 

bit into District 2” so as not to disrupt “the ethnic integrity” of Districts 3 and 4. 

91. With that warning in mind, Díaz de la Portilla asked if there was a problem with 

splitting Coconut Grove—which was wholly in District 2 under the 2013 Plan—and adding parts 

to Districts 3 and 4, given “there’s ethnic diversity in Coconut Grove.” He clarified that his 

question was “based on where the Hispanic voters live,” giving Bay Heights as an example. 

92. De Grandy responded that there was no legal impediment to breaking up any 

community of interest. 

93. De Grandy continued that he functionally had “a wall” between Districts 2 and 5 

and could only “play around the edges there without diluting that minority community.” So, 

District 2 would have to shed population from its southern end—bordering Districts 3 and 4. 

94. Díaz de la Portilla urged De Grandy to shift the 2/5 “wall” eastward as much as he 

could, “without impacting the minority district, District 5,” and De Grandy confirmed he would 

do so, “without diluting,” but that he couldn’t move it much. 

95. Given that explanation, Díaz de la Portilla suggested giving Districts 3 and 4 a little 

bit of Coconut Grove “to make sure we don’t jeopardize the ethnic integrity of our districts.” 

96. Carollo echoed that suggestion, stating that parts of Coconut Grove would have to 
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be moved out of District 2 but “the biggest danger lies . . . in changing one or two of the Hispanic 

seats,” given Districts 1 and 3 “are not as pure in the percentage of Hispanics” as District 4. 

97. Finally, De Grandy clarified a few additional criteria at this meeting. He confirmed 

the Commission wanted districts to be contiguous (i.e., not broken up into different pieces). 

98. De Grandy advised that drawing compact districts should not be a consideration. 

Be Commission agreed. 

99. On that subject, Díaz de la Portilla noted that “if you want to have an African 

American district and you want to have an Anglo district, it’s almost impossible to emphasize 

compactness,” so it’s “a foregone conclusion” that districts would not be compact. De Grandy 

concurred. 

100. Finally, De Grandy asked if using man-made and natural boundaries should be a 

factor, but there was no consensus. 

101. De Grandy agreed to take the Commission’s directives, meet with commissioners 

one-on-one, and develop a draft plan to be presented at the next meeting. 

C.  1e February 7, 2022 Meeting 

102. De Grandy presented a draft plan on February 7, 2022 (the “Feb. 7 Draft”) (Fig. 2). 

103. De Grandy walked through the populations and racial demographics of each draft 

district, noting Districts 1, 3, and 4 had HVAPs of 88.7, 88.4, and 88.0%; District 2 “remains a 

swing district” at 37.2% white population (WPOP) and 48% Hispanic population (HPOP); and 

District 5 was 51.7% Black population (BPOP) and 49.8% BVAP. 

104. Explaining the draft, De Grandy noted many of the race-based decisions he made 

in developing it. 

105. Be Feb. 7 Draft proposed moving part of the historically Black West Grove 
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neighborhood from District 2 into District 4, extending the southern boundary of District 4 across 

US 1. Bis proposal prompted intense criticism from members of the public, who objected to the 

division of a cohesive neighborhood and its excision from District 2. 

 
Fig. 2. De Feb. 7 Draft, showing the 2013 Plan overlaid with blue lines. 

106. Among the members of the public who spoke against the division of Coconut Grove 

were Plaintiff Cooper; GRACE Chair Rev. Nathaniel Robinson III; and West Grove native and 

GRACE Board of Directors member Reynold Martin, who spoke on behalf of the South Dade 

NAACP. As Mr. Martin said: “We oppose anything that removes the area of the Grove as a unit. 

We work together as a family and we’d like to stay that way.” 
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107. Rev. Robinson explained how GRACE objected to the map’s “sever[ing] the 

cultural, social and historical ties to Coconut Grove and District 2 governance” and “disparately 

impact[ing] the voting rights of Village West Black residents by diluting their political impact,” 

adding, “although it might be small, we do have a political impact.” 

108. Responding to the public comment, De Grandy “put into context what we’re 

moving into a majority-Hispanic district,” noting the West Grove portion moved had 2,460 

Hispanic, 1,915 white, and 497 Black residents—i.e., it was nearly a majority-Hispanic area. 

109. And, De Grandy made clear that, because he “cannot take any more population out 

of D2 into D5” without reducing District 5’s Black numbers, he had to remove population from 

District 2 either from the Downtown area or from Coconut Grove. 

110. Carollo, also responding to the public criticism, objected to claims that by moving 

a portion of “the Black part of Coconut Grove to a district that’s Hispanic, this disenfranchises 

them”—but “leav[ing] it in an Anglo area” would be fine. 

111. Carollo pointed out that no African Americans had ever been elected to District 2, 

implying that, since District 2 was the “Anglo seat” and District 4 was a “Hispanic seat,” Black 

residents of the West Grove had no grounds to complain about being moved from one to the other. 

112. Carollo’s comments exemplify the Commission’s approach to the redistricting 

process: the preeminent consideration was ethnic/racial solidarity, and their mapmaking must 

revolve around that. 

113. Speaking more generally about the map’s history, Carollo recounted that districts 

were established “to assure . . . that there would always be an African American commissioner and 

an Anglo commissioner,” and that the other three districts stayed majority Hispanic. 

114. To accomplish that, Carollo explained, neighborhoods across the city were split: 
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Silver Bluff, Shenandoah, Little Havana, and Flagami. Díaz de la Portilla mentioned another: 

Allapattah. 

115. So, to keep “that same balance and having a balance in the Hispanic districts,” 

Carollo went on, a portion of Coconut Grove would have to be split as well. 

116. Following that discussion, the Commission voted 4-1 to direct De Grandy to 

consider going south of US 1 into District 2 to “obtain voter consistency” and balance population, 

as he had done in Feb. 7 Draft. Only Russell voted no. 

117. Be Enacted Plan would indeed have Districts 3 and 4 “go south” of US 1 into 

District 2, moving portions of Coconut Grove. 

118. De Grandy received further feedback from commissioners and would return with a 

revised plan. 

D.  1e February 25, 2022 Meeting 

119. On February 25, De Grandy presented a revised plan he had submitted three days 

prior (the “Feb. 22 Draft”) (Fig. 3). Except for three unpopulated census blocks that were later 

moved from District 1 to 5, the Feb. 22 Draft became the Enacted Plan. 

120. Be Feb. 22 Draft incorporated certain feedback shared during earlier Commission 

meetings, and during private meetings De Grandy had with individual commissioners. 

121. Be Feb. 22 Draft differed from the Feb. 7 Draft in several respects. First, District 

4 added only 1,597 residents from the West Grove, rather than 5,071 under the Feb. 7 Draft. Be 

portion moved into District 4 now had a higher Hispanic population—59.2% HVAP compared to 

49.1% in the Feb. 7 Draft. 

122. Second, District 3 added from District 2 an area near Bay Heights, including 

Natoma Manors, between 22nd Avenue and Alatka Street, rather than adding the area from 17th 
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Avenue to 15th Road. 

123. 1ird, a 76.6%-HVAP area in Allapattah was moved into District 1 from 5, and a 

66.7%-HVAP area was moved out of District 1 into 5. 

 
Fig. 3. De Feb. 22 Draft/Base Plan, showing the Feb. 7 Draft overlaid with blue lines. 
 

124. Fourth, at King’s request, District 5 gained a small, 40% BVAP area of Downtown 

around the Miami Riverside Center (MRC) from District 1. In exchange, District 1 gained a 71.1% 

HVAP area between NW 6th and 8th Streets and NW 7th Avenue and I-95. As part of this shift, 

District 2 regained some area from District 1 that the Feb. 7 Draft had removed. 

125. Fifth, certain Downtown areas were swapped along the District 2/5 “wall:” Two 
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census blocks with a BVAP of 13.0% were moved into District 2; and a 32.2% BVAP area was 

moved into District 5. 

126. Finally, the boundaries between Districts 1, 3, and 4 shifted around Little Havana. 

127. As he did with his first draft, De Grandy walked through the populations and racial 

demographics of each draft district, noting Districts 1, 3, and 4 had HVAPs of 89.5, 88.3, and 

89.5%; District 2 “remains a swing district” at 37% WPOP and 48.7% HPOP; and District 5 was 

52.2% BPOP and 50.3% BVAP. 

128. De Grandy had managed to increase the dominant-group VAP in Districts 1, 4, and 

5 from the Feb. 7 Draft. Of the three majority-Hispanic districts, the HVAP of the least-Hispanic 

district increased. Be average HVAP of those three districts also increased. 

129. In terms of citizen voting-age population, Districts 1, 3, and 4 were 84.8, 86.9, and 

88.2% HCVAP. District 2 was 41.5% WCVAP and 45.6% HCVAP. District 5 was 59.0% BCVAP. 

130. Public comment at this meeting again centered on objections to splitting Coconut 

Grove, including the continued division of a portion of the West Grove. 

131. Among those who gave comments were South Dade NAACP Second Vice 

President Carole Jackson, who spoke on behalf of the NAACP Branches; GRACE Board Vice 

Chair, South Dade NAACP Housing Committee Chair, and West Grove native Carolyn 

Donaldson; Plaintiff Valdes, who represented Engage Miami; and Engage Miami member Jessica 

Saint-Fleur. Plaintiff Cooper and Mr. Martin both spoke again as well. 

132. Díaz de la Portilla, Carollo, and Reyes were satisfied with the Feb. 22 Draft, though 

Reyes was willing to make some changes, including to remove the part of Coconut Grove in 

District 4. Russell wanted to try to avoid splitting Coconut Grove. King wanted more time to 

consider the map and to see if Russell’s concerns could be accommodated. 
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133. Russell sketched out his own suggestion for the border of District 2 at this meeting 

(the “Russell Sketch”), which showed how it might be possible for District 2 to keep all of Coconut 

Grove, rather than splitting the neighborhood across Districts 2, 3, and 4. 

 
Fig. 4. De Russell Sketch (dark blue line). 

134. Referencing the overwhelming public comment, Russell discussed the many 

nuanced reasons for keeping Coconut Grove in District 2—not just to preserve an African 

American community in the West Grove, but also because of the area’s history, architecture, 

cultural diversity, natural aesthetic, walkable character, access to the water, common tree canopy 

issues, affordable housing concerns, and its placement in two of Miami’s three Neighborhood 

Conservation Districts (NCD-2 and NCD-3). 

135. Compared to the Feb. 22 Draft, the Russell Sketch kept all of Coconut Grove in 

District 2 and removed from District 2 the strip west of South Miami Avenue from 32nd Road to 
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the Miami River (including part of Brickell). 

136. Be Russell Sketch did not alter the boundary between Districts 2 and 5 from the 

Feb. 22 Draft. 

137. Be Russell Sketch better equalized District 2’s population, with its deviation 

dropping to within 2% of the ideal, compared to being 5.49% overpopulated in the Feb. 22 Draft. 

138. De Grandy confirmed that Russell’s proposal did not violate any of the mapmaking 

directions the Commission had given him, and that it complied with all legal standards. 

139. But the Commission would reject the proposal for racial reasons later in the process. 

140. Be meeting concluded with the Commission voting 4-1 to take the Feb. 22 Draft 

as the “Base Plan” for future changes, to be debated at the next meeting. Only Russell voted no. 

E.  1e March 11, 2022 Meeting 

141. Be Commission took up the Base Plan again on March 11. 

142. Be meeting opened with Carollo discussing allegations that the map moved a 

portion of North Coconut Grove into District 3 because he owned a house there, on Morris Lane. 

143. Carollo clarified that he was not supporting the changed District 2/3 boundary 

because it included his house. 

144. Carollo said he wanted to make sure that the fact that his house was being moved 

into District 3 would not be raised as grounds for challenging the redistricting in court later. So, 

he decided to abstain from the discussions that day. 

145. De Grandy summarized where they were in the process: the Commission had 

advanced the Base Plan and two commissioners had suggested additional changes. 

146. He walked through those two changes. First, King wanted part of the riverfront 

area that the Base Plan moved from District 5 to District 1 restored to her district. 
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147. De Grandy noted this request’s racial impacts and said he needed more direction. 

148. Second, Russell had renewed his request to restore all of Coconut Grove to District 

2, rather than moving portions into Districts 3 and 4. 

 
Fig. 5. Slide from De Grandy’s March 11 presentation, showing areas the Initial Russell Plan 
moved from the Base Plan. 

149. To equalize population, Russell proposed moving a strip west of South Miami 

Avenue from District 2 to 3, starting at the US 1/I-95 fork and going north to the Miami River 

(“Area 6” in Fig. 5). 

150. Bis proposal (the “Initial Russell Plan”) was similar to what Russell sketched out 

on February 25. It did not alter Districts 1 or 5 in the Base Plan, or the District 3/4 border. 

151. De Grandy also addressed “allegations of racism” in the Base Plan. In so doing, he 

walked through the Black population of each district and of the West Grove area proposed to be 

moved into District 4 from District 2, as well as the number of Hispanic residents “represented by 

a Black commissioner in a Black-majority district” in District 5, and “represented by a non-
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Hispanic commissioner” in District 2. 

152. He went on: “the only allegation of racism results from the proposed movement of 

114 Black residents who are currently represented by a commissioner who is not Black to a district 

that is represented by a commissioner who is not Black.” 

153. De Grandy concluded, “you do not have to be a redistricting expert to conclude that 

the allegation of this plan is somehow racist is simply false and inflammatory.” 

154. Russell pushed back, explaining that Black West Grove residents weren’t simply 

looking for a Black commissioner, but one who will be responsive to their neighborhood’s needs 

and issues: “displacement, gentrification, social justice, affordable housing.” Russell asked De 

Grandy if Black residents in the West Grove formed a cohesive voting bloc with the rest of 

Coconut Grove, and De Grandy acknowledged they did. 

155. Continuing to defend his map, De Grandy pointed out that more Black residents 

were moved out of District 2 in Golden Pines on the north side of US 1, than were moved out of 

District 2 in the West Grove. 

156. Russell responded by explaining that the dividing line should not be reduced to 

race: Black residents of Golden Pines have different interests and priorities than Black residents of 

the West Grove, whose shared interests with the rest of Coconut Grove were “not based on color.” 

157. Russell’s arguments failed to win in the end. 

158. Significant public comment again focused on residents objecting to the division of 

Coconut Grove, and in particular the West Grove. Among those who spoke was South Dade 

NAACP President Dwight Bullard, who described Coconut Grove as “a community of common 

interest irrespective of race, irrespective of ethnicity.” 

159. Responding to the public comment and Russell’s explanations, Reyes asked what 
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would happen if just the West Grove triangle was returned to District 2. De Grandy explained he 

would need to take from elsewhere in District 2 to equalize population, pointing to two areas as 

options: between 22nd and 27th Avenues in North Coconut Grove, and the “Area 6” strip that 

Russell had proposed moving. 

160. Reyes then expressed that he would honor the community’s desires and support 

keeping the West Grove intact in District 2 instead of including a slice of it in his district. 

161. Be Commission adjourned after directing De Grandy to meet with commissioners 

individually and bring back different options that accommodated each commissioner’s wishes. 

F.  1e March 24, 2022 Meeting and Enacted Plan Adoption 

162. Be Commission reconvened on March 24 for its last redistricting meeting. 

163. Carollo announced he would participate since he had no actual or apparent conflict 

of interest. 

164. De Grandy then presented the options that each commissioner directed him to 

develop since March 11. Bere were proposals from King, Díaz de la Portilla, Russell, and Reyes. 

165. King requested only one change to the Base Plan: moving the unpopulated Wharf 

development along the Miami River from District 1 into District 5. 

Case 1:22-cv-24066-KMM   Document 23   Entered on FLSD Docket 02/10/2023   Page 24 of 55



 25 

 
Fig. 6. Slide from De Grandy’s March 24 presentation showing King’s proposed change to the 
Base Plan. 
 
 

 
Fig. 7. De Grandy’s slide showing Díaz de la Portilla’s suggested change to the Base Plan. 
 

Case 1:22-cv-24066-KMM   Document 23   Entered on FLSD Docket 02/10/2023   Page 25 of 55



 26 

166. Díaz de la Portilla advised he supported the Base Plan but had one change he would 

not object to: moving a single block just to the north of the Wharf, encompassing the Flagler on 

the River tower, from District 1 and back into District 5, where it was in the 2013 Plan. 

 
Fig. 8. De Grandy’s slide showing the Revised Russell Plan’s changes to the Base Plan. 

167. Russell had a revised proposal (the “Revised Russell Plan”). As with the Initial 

Russell Plan, the Revised Russell Plan restored all of Coconut Grove to District 2. However, it 

shifted less population from District 2 into District 3, with the one-block-wide strip running along 

South Miami Avenue from the I-95/US 1 fork north to 10th Street, rather than all the way to the 

Miami River. De Grandy announced the racial demographics of this strip: 44.6% HVAP, 39% 

WVAP. Russell’s new plan also included King’s Wharf change. 
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Fig. 9. De Grandy’s slide showing the Reyes Plan’s changes to the Base Plan. 

168. Reyes proposed a plan (the “Reyes Plan”) that restored the West Grove triangle to 

District 2. In exchange, the proposal moved from District 2 to District 3 an area on the north/west 

side of South Miami Avenue between Alatka and 13th Streets. De Grandy reported that area’s 

demographics: 51% HVAP, 39% WVAP. Reyes’ plan also included King’s Wharf change. 

169. Unlike the Revised Russell Plan, the Reyes Plan kept in District 3 the portion of 

North Coconut Grove that the Base Plan had moved into District 3. 

170. Carollo did not propose any amendment. 

171. De Grandy concluded by advising that each proposed amendment complied with 

the Constitution and the Voting Rights Act. 

172. Public comment, yet again, centered on keeping Coconut Grove whole. Among the 

speakers were South Dade NAACP Secretary Brad Brown and Miami-Dade NAACP President 

Daniella Pierre. 
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173. Each commissioner then spoke in turn. Díaz de la Portilla and Carollo both stated 

they would support the Base Plan with King’s Wharf amendment. 

174. Revisiting the subject of his Morris Lane house moving into District 3, Carollo 

stated he had “no problem, none whatsoever” with it being moved into District 4 instead. 

175. He did, however, object to the Reyes and Russell proposals to move more territory 

from District 2 into District 3. 

176. Russell advocated for his plan and keeping Coconut Grove whole in District 2, 

listing how his plan met all the criteria the Commission had adopted at the beginning of the process. 

177. Reyes stood by his earlier support for removing the West Grove triangle from 

District 4. 

178. Russell proposed adopting his Revised Russell Plan, but that failed 4-1. 

179. Díaz de la Portilla then moved to adopt the Base Plan with King’s Wharf 

amendment, and with removing the West Grove triangle from District 4. 

180. But De Grandy and Carollo explained that moving the West Grove triangle would 

necessitate shifting District 3 further into Brickell to bring the plan’s overall population deviation 

range under 10%. 

181. So, Díaz de la Portilla withdrew that motion and moved to adopt the Base Plan with 

King’s Wharf amendment. 

182. Bat motion carried 3-2, and the Base Plan with the Wharf change passed as the 

Enacted Plan. 

183. Reyes explained he was opposed because District 4 still included a portion of the 

West Grove. 

184. Similarly, Russell voted no because the plan divided Coconut Grove. 
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185. Díaz de la Portilla, Carollo, and King voted yes. 

186. Community members and advocacy organizations urged Mayor Suarez to veto the 

map. For example, the NAACP Branches wrote a letter to Suarez, requesting he reject the plan as 

an unfair redistricting plan that goes against traditional redistricting principles and threatens equal 

representation under the law. 

187. Ignoring Miamians’ concerns, Suarez let the plan become law without his signature. 

IV.  Racial Considerations Predominated in the Line-Drawing Process 

188. Be Commission’s overriding goal in crafting the Enacted Plan was to separate 

Hispanic, Black, and Anglo voters as much as possible into “their” respective districts. 

189. Improper racial considerations predominated throughout the Commission’s line-

drawing process. Race featured centrally at every redistricting meeting, with race placed above all 

race-neutral, traditional redistricting criteria. 

190. Bese race-based decisions resulted in a map that splits neighborhoods, ignores 

traditional redistricting criteria, and eschews fair, public-minded representation. 

191. Where, as here, race is the central consideration in mapmaking and traditional, race-

neutral criteria are ignored, race predominates. Unless the use of race is necessary to ensure fair 

and equal opportunity for voters of color to participate in the electoral process, its use is 

constitutionally suspect. 

192. But rather than advancing representation, the Commission delivered separation. 

193. At the very first redistricting meeting, Reyes and Carollo discussed how the existing 

map “was drawn in a way that every single ethnic group would be represented,” and that explained 

“the odd shape that we have now” and why certain neighborhoods were split. 

194. Indeed, Carollo explained on February 25, to accommodate maximal racial 
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separation, the Commission “broke up numerous neighborhoods.” 

195. Reyes agreed: “just ask all the communities who are divided, because we have to 

preserve a seat that will represent every single community of the City of Miami.” 

196. Racially heterogeneous districts were out of the question. After discussing the racial 

dynamics and demographics of the districts on November 18, Carollo stressed how they needed to 

ensure “that the balance is not really shifted.” 

197. Again on February 7, Carollo explained his “goals from day one:” “to have 

guaranteed Anglo representation, and to have three districts that were Hispanics,” concluding 

“these are my intentions here today.” 

198. Bis attitude which elevated racial considerations above all other redistricting 

decisions was shared by other commissioners. 

199. Díaz de la Portilla, for example, explained on March 11, “our goal here is to have 

an African American district, for lack of a better term, a white district, . . . and three Hispanic 

districts.” 

200. In response to public criticism of gerrymandering, Reyes was blunt: “Yes, we are 

gerrymandering to preserve those seats”—to preserve and enhance the maximal division of races 

into separate districts as much as possible. 

201. Shortly before the final vote, Carollo summarized his goals in locking in a particular 

and precise racial division in the map: 

I do not want to change the District 3 voting patterns, the types of 
people that are there with different people. I don’t want to do that to 
District 4, nor to District 1. Just like I want to be able to leave 
District 2 where it could still elect a guy like you [referring to 
Russell], if they want to. In District 5, that will be a majority-African 
American district. 

202. Be Commission’s policy of maximal racial separation manifested in three specific 
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ways: (1) creating an “Anglo access district” in District 2; (2) maintaining an arbitrary BVAP 

quota for District 5; and (3) packing Hispanic residents into Districts 1, 3, and 4 as much as 

possible. 

A.  Creating an “Anglo Access District” in District 2 

203. Race predominated in the design of District 2. 

204. At its first redistricting meeting on November 18, Díaz de la Portilla asked De 

Grandy whether the VRA required the Commission to maintain “what we call here in Miami, in 

practical terms, an Anglo . . . seat.” 

205. De Grandy explained that “white, non-Hispanic, is not a protected class under the 

Voting Rights Act.” 

206. Be Commission would ignore this legal advice, instead increasing the Anglo 

population of District 2 as much as possible, stripping Black and Hispanic residents from it with 

the explicit goal that it would elect an Anglo commissioner. 

207. At the February 7 meeting, Carollo shared that originally, District 2 “was 

gerrymandered—but it was a legal gerrymander so that you would have an Anglo elected 

commissioner.” 

208. As the Commission drew new lines, it sought to maintain and enhance this. On 

February 7, for example, Reyes expressed that they had to make changes to protect “the Anglo 

seat” and asked De Grandy if his Feb. 7 Draft was the best he could do to protect it. During that 

same meeting, Carollo stated his “intention here today” to “have guaranteed Anglo 

representation.” On February 25, Reyes too stated his “commitment” that “the so-called Anglo-

district will . . . stand the test of time.” At the final meeting, Carollo reiterated “we’re going to 

have to keep one district that you could get an Anglo.” 
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209. To achieve this goal, the Commission “purposely divided neighborhoods in other 

districts to try to keep District 2 into a district that a non-Hispanic would be elected,” as Carollo 

explained on February 25. For example, he continued, “Silver Bluff is one of those communities 

that was split in half to be able to create a District 2 that would elect someone like Mr. Russell”—

someone “of an Anglo background, not Hispanic.”2 

210. Carollo listed others divided to achieve that goal: Shenandoah, Little Havana, 

Flagami—split “down the middle”—and more. 

211. Díaz de la Portilla recounted how, as Mayor, Carollo “broke up Hispanic 

neighborhood after Hispanic neighborhood because he had to for the greater good”—to “have a 

white on our City Commission.” 

212. Reyes and Carollo reprised this theme at the final meeting. If Shenandoah, Silver 

Bluff, Flagami, and Little Havana had not been divided, Reyes said, “probably we would not have 

Mr. Russell sitting there.” 

213. Reyes continued that “it was fine to divide” these neighborhoods, “because we 

wanted to achieve what we want to achieve now:” “great” “probabilities of electing an Anglo.” 

214. Finally, in his last speech before passing the Enacted Plan, Carollo summed it up 

again: “We’re gonna have to keep one district that you can get an Anglo, whether they’re an Anglo 

that’s Japanese or an Anglo that’s Russian, Ukrainian, Italian, Polish, English, French, they can 

 
2  When Russell interrupted to point out he was Japanese American, Carollo dismissed him,  
 
saying “you didn’t quite mention the Oriental part when you were running.” Carollo’s comment  
 
exemplifies the Commission’s essentialist and reductive attitude toward race and representation:  
 
there are Hispanic residents, there are Black residents, and there are Anglo residents. To the  
 
Commission, “representation” means having a co-ethnic commissioner. 
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get elected.” 

215. Be Commission sacrificed other traditional redistricting criteria to draw an 

explicitly Anglo district, including compactness. As Díaz de la Portilla explained, “if . . . you want 

to have an Anglo district, it’s almost impossible to emphasize compactness.” 

216. On February 25, to assuage his “main concern,” Reyes sought to confirm with De 

Grandy that District 2 would still have a high probability of electing an Anglo. De Grandy replied 

simply: “Yes.” 

B.  Maintaining an Arbitrary BVAP Quota for District 5 

217. Race predominated in the design of District 5. 

218. Coming into the process, District 5 under the 2013 Plan was 54.4% BPOP, 52.9% 

BVAP, and 59.4% BCVAP, but was underpopulated and needed to add population. 

219. Be Commission’s overriding goal for District 5 was to keep those numbers as high 

as possible while equalizing population, and particularly to attain a BVAP above 50%. 

220. Bis arbitrary threshold was not based on any functional analysis of what was 

necessary to afford Black voters the ability to elected preferred candidates, or justified by any 

compelling interest, including compliance with the VRA. 

221. Moreover, the Commission ignored key markers of District 5’s functional 

performance, like CVAP, voter registration, and turnout in recent elections. 

222. At the first redistricting meeting on November 18, De Grandy commented how 

during the 2013 cycle, he moved the northern end of District 2 into District 5, but “that did dilute 

the Black voting percentage.” 

223. Moving much more in this area, though, concerned him. He warned against doing 

so, because “District 5 may not be a performing district anymore for the minority community.” “I 
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have a wall that separates D2 and D5,” De Grandy said. 

224. De Grandy did not explain what analysis he did to conclude District 5 would be at 

risk of vote dilution in violation of the VRA. 

225. De Grandy’s analysis—focused on making District 5’s Black population as high as 

possible—was nothing more than an arbitrary numerical target based on uninformed guesswork. 

226. In De Grandy’s initial, Feb. 7 Draft, District 5 was 51.7% BPOP, 49.8% BVAP, 

and 58.7% BCVAP. 

227. De Grandy explained he deliberately underpopulated District 5, “because bringing 

in additional population from most any side of the district might reduce the African American 

population percentage.” 

228. In particular, De Grandy explained that around the District 2/5 border, “we could 

not move further east without affecting the African American population’s ability to elect a 

candidate of its choice in D5.” 

 
Fig. 10. Areas moved into and out of District 5 in the Feb. 7 Draft. 
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229. “Bere were only roughly 1,000 African Americans” in that area added from 

District 2, so, “the only reason we were able to rebalance the ethnic and racial population” was to 

remove the riverside areas from District 5 and move them into District 1, he continued. 

230. He went on: “Bat was essential because as you moved east . . . , there was less and 

less African American population.” 

231. Notwithstanding the fact that the Feb. 7 Draft featured a District 5 with a BVAP 

under 50% and a BPOP under 52%, De Grandy said his analysis of voting patterns confirmed 

Black voters had an equal opportunity to elect the candidate of their choice. 

232. But this did not satisfy the Commission. 

233. First, Reyes pressed De Grandy if “this is the best you can do to protect the African 

American seat,” calling it his “main concern.” 

234. King also stated she was “concerned . . . that District 5 is 51% African American.” 

235. De Grandy responded to their concerns in his Feb. 22 Draft, the Base Plan. 

236. He explained that “by reconfiguring areas around the boundaries of D5, we were 

also able to slightly increase the total Black population, as well as the voting-age population, above 

50%.” 

237. De Grandy explained that underpopulating District 5 also allowed for an increase 

in its Black population. 

238. He was firm that District 5 could not move further east into District 2 without 

“diminishing the African American community’s opportunity to elect a candidate of choice.” 

239. He concluded his presentation of the Base Plan by recapping “the directives you 

gave.” Bird on the list: “We increased D5’s Black voting-age population above 50%.” 
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Fig. 11. Downtown changes to District 5 in the Base Plan, compared to the Feb. 7 Draft. 

240. Be Base Plan’s reconfigurations included swapping areas between Districts 2 and 

5 in Downtown. 1,638 people in two city blocks bounded by NW 8th and 10th Streets, Miami 

Avenue, and the railroad tracks were moved back into District 2, where they had been in the 2013 

Plan. Bese two blocks are 13.0% BVAP. 

241. In exchange, 2,521 people in a two-block-wide strip between Miami and NE/SE 

2nd Avenues were moved into District 5. Bis strip is 32.1% BVAP. 

242. However, 1,407 people in this strip—more than half—are incarcerated at the 

Federal Detention Center (FDC). A plurality of the FDC population is Black. 

243. Not including the incarcerated population, the strip De Grandy moved into District 

5 to satisfy the Commission’s 50% quota is 16.4% BVAP. 

244. When the public raised concerns about the Commission’s arbitrary BVAP quota, 

they were dismissed out of hand. 

245. On February 25, the ACLU of Florida raised these concerns, noting that setting an 
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arbitrary 50% target, divorced from any actual analysis of what is necessary to afford Black voters 

an opportunity to elect preferred candidates, raised equal protection concerns and may constitute 

unlawful packing.  

246. Be ACLU of Florida reminded the Commission that it was required to take the full 

breadth of available data into account, rather than looking merely at surface-level Census 

population totals. It further pointed out that voter registration and actual turnout data showed that 

Black voters make up a substantially higher share of registered voters and actual voters than 

Census VAP figures indicated for the proposed District 5: 55.5% of registered voters, 53.2% of 

voters at the last state general election, and 61.3% of voters at the last state primary election. 

247. Moreover, the district was nearly 60% Black “as refined by citizenship.” Negron v. 

City of Miami Beach, 113 F.3d 1563, 1569 (11th Cir. 1997). 

248. In response to the ACLU of Florida’s statement, De Grandy said “it was hard for 

me to understand that.” 

249. Further, De Grandy claimed that “packing doesn’t apply.” 

250. Be Commission’s consideration—and rejection—of alternatives to the Base Plan 

also illustrates its fixation on the racial targets. 

251. For example, after Russell presented his sketch for District 2 on February 25, King 

was interested in considering it—but only if it wouldn’t reduce District 5’s Black share: “Would 

that upset the balance in my district? Would it take me from 52 to less or more?” 

252. De Grandy assured her it wouldn’t impact District 5, and King was willing to 

consider it at the next meeting. 

253. At that next meeting on March 11, De Grandy noted how King had requested 

moving riverside areas back into District 5 from District 1. King’s request had a problem: it would 
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“lower the Black VAP to 49%,” as De Grandy explained.  

254. Díaz de la Portilla crystalized the Commission’s reaction to the slight BVAP 

decline in a single word: “Worse.” 

255. De Grandy expressed confidence this problem “could be remedied” to “increase 

D5’s Black voting-age population.” 

256. Indeed, De Grandy took a recess to “work on that better and maybe that would solve 

the problem.” 

257. He came back from recess with a new amendment to the Base Plan that moved 

several unpopulated riverfront blocks (the Wharf development) from District 1 into District 5—

ensuring District 5 stayed above the 50% BVAP threshold. 

258. Even so, Díaz de la Portilla shared his worry with King that “the growth that’s going 

to occur over the next ten years” would “make your district minority African American.” Because 

the area proposed to be moved back into District 5 from District 1 was “an area that’s 

predominantly Hispanic.” 

259. Eventually, Díaz de la Portilla was satisfied with District 5’s demographics, once 

he understood that it was still majority-BVAP, at 50.3%. 

260. Be Commission eventually adopted King’s change, going back to the Base Plan 

with the minor Wharf alteration, rather than the draft proposal with a 49% BVAP District 5. 

261. Be Commission’s adherence to the 50% BVAP quota was underscored by another 

proposed riverfront change. On March 24, De Grandy discussed moving the Flagler on the River 

condo development into District 5 from District 1, a suggestion of Díaz de la Portilla’s. 

262. De Grandy reported the single block in question had 510 residents and was roughly 

73% HVAP. He said moving it into District 5 would drop District 5’s BVAP to 49.97%. 

Case 1:22-cv-24066-KMM   Document 23   Entered on FLSD Docket 02/10/2023   Page 38 of 55



 39 

263. De Grandy advised the proposal was VRA-compliant, but nevertheless counseled 

“additional tweaks to the plan to bring the Black voting-age population back above 50%.” 

264. Be Commission did not end up accepting the Flagler on the River suggestion. 

265. As the Commission neared a final vote on March 24, the 50% BVAP quota and its 

impact on the map continued to be a point of discussion. Carollo stressed “we have to keep one 

district that is going to have a majority of African Americans,” explaining that hitting that target 

was “the reason we’re having to do this”—referring to dividing Coconut Grove. 

266. Indeed, the “wall” between Districts 2 and 5 was a large reason why part of Coconut 

Grove ended up removed from District 2. Because removing more of District 2 from its northern 

end would further reduce District 5’s Black proportion, the Commission instead removed areas 

from District 2 at its southern end, in Coconut Grove, to equalize District 2’s population. 

267. As Reyes, Russell, and King tried unsuccessfully to reach agreement on Coconut 

Grove, De Grandy stressed he “cannot put one more resident into Commissioner King’s district” 

because it “would dilute the Black majority.” 

268. Díaz de la Portilla discussed how striving for the quota also impacted another area 

of the map, his own District 1 in Allapattah: “I can’t go north, because if I go north I jeopardize 

the African American seat” by taking Black voters from District 5. 

269. Be Commission successfully hit its target: the BVAP of District 5 is 50.3%. 

C.  Packing Hispanic Residents into Districts 1, 3, and 4 

270. Race predominated in the design of Districts 1, 3, and 4 as well. 

271. Be Commission’s goal was to make the Hispanic populations of Districts 1, 3, and 

4 as high as possible, thereby stripping Hispanic residents from Districts 2 and 5 and diminishing 

their influence in those two districts. 
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272. Carollo set the tone at the second redistricting meeting, before any maps were 

drafted: “My main interest in my district and your district, Díaz de la Portilla, and Mr. Reyes’ 

district, is that I’m sure that we’re going to keep the balance of the Hispanic population where 

we’re going to be getting Hispanics elected there.” 

273. Carollo reiterated on February 7 that Districts 1 and 3 need to “keep the same type 

of last name and faces.” 

274. Shortly before the Enacted Plan passed, Carollo again stated, “We have to keep 

three districts that are going to be majority-Hispanic.” 

275. Commissioners were concerned by the relative Hispanic populations of these three 

districts and obsessed over small changes in Hispanic population. For example, Carollo discussed 

the relative “purity” of the three districts on December 9, noting the Commission had to keep in 

mind that Districts 1 and 3 “are not as pure in the percentage of the Hispanics that vote” compared 

with District 4. 

276. But at no point did the Commission undertake an actual analysis of voting patterns 

to determine what Hispanic population a district needs to have to comply with the VRA, instead 

shooting for as high a population as possible. 

1.  District 1/5 Border 

277. Be border between Districts 1 and 5 was drawn along racial lines, to put Hispanic 

residents into District 1 and strip them from District 5. At the same time, the border packed Black 

residents into District 5 and stripped them from District 1. 

278. District 1, which under the 2013 Plan was underpopulated by 6,999 residents and 

needed to grow, ended up gaining all its new population from District 5. 

279. Be Commission first discussed specific areas to add into District 1 on December 
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9. Carollo highlighted two “logical” and “attractive” areas: Wynwood—noting “that’s mainly a 

Hispanic area”—and along the north side of Miami River—“non-African American areas, mainly 

Hispanic or Anglo basically.” 

280. At the same meeting, Díaz de la Portilla reflected on how he “really can’t go north” 

to gain population in Allapattah, because “it’s an African American area.” 

281. Carollo interjected, noting there might be an area by 36th Street (which served as 

District 1’s northern border under the 2013 Plan) that could be added to District 1, but he wasn’t 

sure “if it’s mainly Hispanic or if it’s more African American.” Díaz de la Portilla agreed he might 

be able to extend north to 40th Street, but not past State Road 112, because “north of 112 we are 

entering into African American neighborhoods—and we can’t touch that area.” 

 
Fig. 12. Riverside area moved into District 1 from District 5 in the Feb. 7 Draft. De 2013 Plan is 
overlaid in blue. 
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282. De Grandy’s Feb. 7 Draft moved the riverside area Carollo had suggested. De 

Grandy explained: “We felt this movement was needed because this area has a high percentage of 

Hispanics and a greater voter cohesion with D1 residents.” 

283. Be Base Plan moved a small portion of that riverside area around the MRC back 

into District 5. In exchange, the draft moved another part of Downtown—eight city blocks 

bounded by NW 7th Avenue, I-95, and NW 6th and 8th Streets—into District 1. 

 
Fig. 13. Riverside areas moved between Districts 1 and 5 in the Base Plan. De Feb. 7 Draft is 
overlaid in blue. 

284. De Grandy explained that “again, we felt this movement was needed because 

Hispanics in the area constitute roughly 70% of the population. Bus, they have greater voter 

cohesion” with the rest of District 1. 

285. Be Enacted Plan ended up moving a supermajority-Hispanic area of Downtown 

from District 5 into District 1, giving District 1 an irregular appendage that splits neighborhoods 
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along racial lines, including historic Overtown. Be entire area moved is 70.7% HVAP. 

286. Be Enacted Plan ended up extending District 1 north to 40th Street/SR 112 but no 

further, moving a supermajority-Hispanic chunk from District 5 between NW 12th and 19th 

Avenues that is 76.6% HVAP and 33.0% BVAP. 

 
Fig. 14. Allapattah areas moved between Districts 1 and 5 in the Base Plan. 

287. Even though District 1 needed to gain population, the Enacted Plan also ended up 

moving a less-Hispanic area of Allapattah out of District 1 and into District 5, creating a jagged 

stair-step border that chopped up the neighborhood along racial lines. 

288. Bis area, bounded by NW 32nd and 36th Streets, NW 8th Avenue, and I-95, is 

66.7% HVAP and 37.1% BVAP. 

289. District 1 in the Enacted Plan is 89.5% HVAP and 84.8% HCVAP. 

2.  District 2/3 Border 

290. Be boundary between Districts 2 and 3 was also drawn along racial lines, to pack 

Hispanic residents into District 3 and strip them from District 2. 

291. Díaz de la Portilla first suggested moving areas “where Hispanic voters live” from 

District 2 and into Districts 3 and 4 at the second redistricting meeting, mentioning Coconut Grove 
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and Bay Heights specifically. 

292. De Grandy incorporated this suggestion into his Feb. 7 Draft. Bat map moved 

portions of District 2 into District 3, stretching from SW 15th Road in the north to SW 17th Avenue 

in the south, over to South Miami Avenue. Bis area included Bay Heights. 

 
Fig. 15. Areas moved out of District 2 and into 3/4 in the Feb. 7 Draft (compared to 2013 Plan). 

293. Discussion of Feb. 7 Draft’s 2/3 border focused on whether part of 

Downtown/Brickell should be moved into District 3 instead. Russell suggested doing that so 

District 2 could keep all of Coconut Grove and avoid splitting the West Grove. 

294. De Grandy explained he didn’t move District 3 into Downtown “because the 

demographics were dissimilar,” but acknowledged that was a choice the Commission could make. 

He clarified that he could equalize the district populations and keep Coconut Grove whole within 

District 2 by adding part of Downtown to District 3. 
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295. Be Commission considered that option at the next meeting, but rejected it for racial 

reasons. 

296. Walking through the Base Plan on February 22, De Grandy again explained that he 

“did not feel it was appropriate to move east” and grow District 3 into Downtown “because of 

dissimilar demographics.” At a later meeting, De Grandy was more explicit: “the Hispanic 

population in that area was in the 40’s,” “whereas District 3 is in the 80’s.” 

 
Fig. 16. Areas moved out of District 2 and into 3/4 in the Base Plan (compared to 2013 Plan). 

297. Carollo supported this approach, explaining Brickell was “totally different in your 

demographics” from District 3, so they had no choice but to move people from the Grove into 

Districts 3 and 4 instead: “we can’t go anywhere else.” 

298. To Carollo, “throwing” Brickell into District 3 would unacceptably “change the 

whole component of one district” with “a domino effect” to “change the composition of the other 
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districts.” 

299. Díaz de la Portilla agreed, saying the Grove was “the only place to go.” 

300. Bis subject came up again when the Commission considered the Initial Russell 

Plan. Bat proposed extending District 3’s eastern boundary one block east to South Miami 

Avenue, from where US 1 and I-95 fork on the south end, northward to the Miami River. 

 
Fig. 17. Areas moved out of District 2 into 3/4 in the Initial Russell Plan (compared to 2013 Plan). 

301. Even De Grandy advised that the Initial Russell Plan’s District 3 was still a 

“Hispanic district” and complied with the VRA. 

302. But that assurance was not enough for the Commission. Reyes first flagged the 

issue: “I don’t agree with it because [] there is a lot of Anglos in that area and it’s going to affect 

them. Be district as such, is going to be affected.” 

303. Bis prompted Russell to ask De Grandy about the relative Hispanic population of 

the strip he proposed moving into District 3, versus the area around Natoma Manors moved in the 
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Base Plan. 

304. De Grandy explained Russell’s strip had a Hispanic population “in the 40’s,” 

dissimilar from the rest of District 3. 

305. Meanwhile, the Natoma area De Grandy had proposed moving into District 3 was 

“in the 50 range,” so he felt it more appropriate to move. 

306. Further, the Natoma area was smaller in population, so De Grandy wasn’t 

concerned about that reducing District 3’s Hispanic population. 

307. Russell concluded the areas were close enough in their impact on District 3’s 

Hispanic population “to where we’re splitting hairs.” 

308. But the majority of the Commission wanted to split those hairs to achieve its overall 

goal: packing as many Hispanic residents as possible into District 3. 

 
Fig. 18. Areas moved out of District 2 into 3/4 in Revised Russell Plan (compared to 2013 Plan). 
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309. Be Commission revisited this theme at its final meeting, as it debated the Revised 

Russell Plan. 

310. De Grandy again explained he “did not go east” into Brickell “when I was doing 

District 3 [] because I found the population to be dissimilar. It was approximately 40-some percent 

Hispanic, going into a district that’s approximately 88% Hispanic.” 

311. Zooming in on individual city blocks, Díaz de la Portilla pressed De Grandy on the 

demographics of the “buildings in the West Brickell area” the Revised Russell Plan moved: “those 

buildings that are now inhabited are predominately Anglo.” 

312. De Grandy confirmed those buildings were “markedly different than the population 

in District 3.” 

313. So instead of shifting District 3 eastward into Brickell, De Grandy “decided that 

the best move will be to go south and not go east” into Brickell, because the people to the south 

“are more similar” to the rest of District 3, he again explained. 

314. He advised that “in any of the plans,” “District 3 is still a majority-Hispanic 

district,” but was a “stronger Hispanic district under the base plan, absolutely.” 

315. Discussing the Reyes Plan and Revised Russell Plan’s removing the West Grove 

triangle from District 4, Carollo stressed that District “is still the most Hispanic district out of the 

three Hispanic districts in the city” “even with the [West Grove] sliver of 1,600 additional people.” 

316. District 3, on the other hand, would be forced to gain more than 1,600 people from 

District 2 to balance the population deviations, as Carollo explained it. 

317. Bat population would come from Brickell, where “it’s not cohesive anymore” and 

where “the numbers also change” compared to the rest of District 3. 

318. And, he continued, that “would put District 3 into the future in possible jeopardy.”  
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319. Carollo spelled out the problem in blunt terms: “bringing in a transplant from 

another part of the country, and because they speak a little Spanish and they smile all the time, 

they feel they can sneak in. . . . And this district now is gonna be skewed where it’s not gonna be 

clear on the kind of person that could get elected from it.” 

320. Bat is why, he concluded, he would “strongly object to West Brickell going into 

District 3.”  

321. Reyes agreed, saying he “totally, totally oppose[d] that,” and explaining that he 

originally agreed with De Grandy’s first suggestion to shift District 3 into Bay Heights rather than 

Brickell, since Bay Heights was “close to 52% Hispanic.” But he opposed moving District 3 

eastward into Brickell. 

322. Díaz de la Portilla agreed too, saying “Carollo hit the nail on the head.” 

323. He explained why the Revised Russell Plan did not adequately pack Hispanic 

voters: “What Mr. Russell’s plan does, down the line, . . . is disintegrate that Hispanic district, 

District 3.” 

324. “And then we’ll have a minority-Hispanic Commission in a majority-Hispanic city. 

How’s that democracy?” Díaz de la Portilla concluded, “You’re shifting the balance of power in a 

Hispanic district.” 

325. Under the Revised Russell Plan, District 3 was 86.6% HVAP and 84.8% HCVAP.  

326. In the Base Plan and Enacted Plan, it is 88.3% HVAP and 86.9% HCVAP. 

3.  District 2/4 Border 

327. Be boundary between Districts 2 and 4 was also drawn to pack Hispanic residents 

into District 4 and strip them from District 2. 

328. At the first redistricting meeting, Díaz de la Portilla highlighted the Douglas Park 
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area, which was in District 2 under the 2013 Plan, that “probably doesn’t belong there.” Using the 

phrase “political cohesion” to euphemistically refer to racial groups, Díaz de la Portilla opined, “if 

you look at political cohesion, it probably belongs in Commissioner Reyes’ district,” because it 

has “more commonalities” with the rest of District 4 “than with Coconut Grove or Edgewater.” 

329. Carollo agreed, stating at the following meeting that this “very Hispanic area” 

“should have always been part of District 4.” 

330. Be area referred to, bounded by SW 25th Street, SW 27th Avenue, and US 1, is 

81.8% HVAP and 13.6% WVAP. 

331. Bat overwhelmingly Hispanic area was moved into District 4 in the Enacted Plan, 

thereby packing Hispanic residents into District 4 and stripping them from District 2 (see Fig. 16). 

332. As with other areas of the map, the rejected proposals for District 4 clarify the 

Commission’s racial intent. 

333. On February 7, Carollo proposed moving a chunk of North Coconut Grove between 

22nd and 27th Avenues and South Bayshore Drive into District 4 from District 2. 

334. Reyes objected strongly to this area—which is 54.4% WVAP—being added to his 

district. Carollo tried to reassure Reyes by reminding him that he has “the most Hispanic” and “the 

most Cuban district” in the city, and that the Feb. 7 Draft already gave him “a huge Hispanic area 

on the other side of US 1,” referring to the Douglas Park area. 

335. Comparing that 82% HVAP Douglas Park addition to his 54% WVAP North Grove 

proposal, Carollo explained Reyes can’t be “getting all the sirloin but none of the bone.” 

336. In the end, the Commission moved the Hispanic-rich “sirloin” into District 4, while 

most of the majority-white “bone” remained in District 2. 

337. District 4 does, however, add a portion of Coconut Grove from District 2. 
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Following Díaz de la Portilla’s early suggestion to move areas “where Hispanic voters live” given 

the “ethnic diversity in Coconut Grove,” District 4 adds a 59.2% HVAP triangle from the West 

Grove, bounded by US 1, Day Avenue, and SW 27th Avenue (see Fig. 16). 

338. Bat triangle was not as Hispanic as the rest of District 4, but given the Commission 

considered District 4 to be the “purest” Hispanic district already, it was acceptable for it to add 

just “a slice, sliver” of less-Hispanic “bone.” 

339. In later meetings, Reyes begrudgingly accepted adding part of Coconut Grove 

because he thought it necessary to maintain the racial balance of District 5: “Be only reason that 

I will accept that is to save that seat that is there,” he said on March 11, pointing to King. 

340. District 4 in the Enacted Plan is 89.5% HVAP and 88.2% HCVAP. 

4.  Internal Borders of Districts 1, 3, and 4 

341. Be Commission also drew the borders that Districts 1, 3 and 4 share to facilitate 

the Enacted Plan’s packing of Hispanic voters into these districts and more generally, to 

accomplish the tripartite racial separation throughout the map. 

342. Be commission largely treated Hispanic voters on the borders of these districts as 

fungible because these areas are all predominately Hispanic. 

343. As Carollo, Reyes, and Díaz de la Portilla recounted multiple times, Flagami, Little 

Havana, Shenandoah, and Silver Bluff were all split between these three districts to effectuate the 

Commission’s policy of maximum racial separation. 

344. When he presented his Feb. 7 Draft, De Grandy acknowledged shifting areas 

between Districts 3 and 4 because he “tried to find adjacent areas with similar demographics in 

order to maintain voter cohesion.” 

345. Following Carollo’s discussion of District 4 not keeping all the “sirloin,” Carollo 

Case 1:22-cv-24066-KMM   Document 23   Entered on FLSD Docket 02/10/2023   Page 51 of 55



 52 

suggested moving into District 3 a heavily Hispanic portion of District 4 between SW 27th and 

32nd Avenues, in Little Havana.  

346. When Reyes objected, Carollo explained to him why it was necessary to add that 

territory to District 3: “you’re getting more than two squares here,” referring to the Douglas Park 

area, “in prime Hispanic area, and you’re diluting the Hispanic vote.” 

347. “Bere has to be a balance,” Carollo continued, and in exchange for getting “a huge 

chunk of rich Hispanic voters” around Douglas Park, District 4 needed to balance its Hispanic 

population out with District 3. 

348. Reyes eventually agreed to “work[] out in a way that we can make it as Hispanic as 

you can.” 

 
Fig. 19. Enacted Plan borders between Districts 1, 3, and 4, showing neighborhoods split and 
areas moved (compared to 2013 Plan). 
 

349. Be area Carollo wanted to add to District 3—bounded by SW 27th and 32nd 

Avenues, NW 7th Street, and SW 8th Street—was indeed moved into District 3 in the Enacted 

Plan. It is 89.5% HVAP. 
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350. Explaining the shift on February 25, De Grandy explained, “we tried to find 

adjacent areas with similar demographics in order to maintain voter cohesion.” 

V.  Lack of Narrow Tailoring to Achieve 
a Compelling Interest in Racial Predominance 

351. Where, as here, race was the predominant factor in the government’s decision-

making, strict scrutiny is triggered and “[t]he burden . . . shifts to the [government] to prove that 

its race-based sorting of voters serves a compelling interest and is narrowly tailored to that end.” 

Cooper v. Harris, 137 S. Ct. 1455, 1464 (2017) (internal quotations omitted). Traditionally, 

compliance with the Voting Rights Act, namely Section 2, has served as the primary justification 

for predominant considerations of race. Be Commission’s use of race, however, was not narrowly 

tailored to any compelling government interest, including compliance with the VRA. 

352. To ensure its use of race was narrowly tailored to achieve VRA compliance, the 

Commission was obligated to assess the level of minority citizen voting-age population or 

registered voters necessary for those voters to have the opportunity to usually elect their candidates 

of choice. 

353. Be Commission centered its “analysis” on total population and voting-age 

population figures instead of reviewing “voting-age population as refined by citizenship.” Negron, 

113 F.3d at 1569 (emphasis added). 

354. Despite their facial concern for protecting diverse representation, neither the 

Commission nor its consultants took steps to meaningfully assess VRA compliance. Bere is no 

indication the Commission conducted an analysis of racially polarized voting (RPV) or any other 

analysis key to assessing VRA compliance. 

355. Instead, the Commission relied on blanket racial targets and sought to increase the 

Black, Anglo, and Hispanic populations of the respective districts as much as possible. 
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356. Without conducting a functional analysis of RPV, the Commission’s race-based 

map drawing was not narrowly tailored to achieve VRA compliance. 

357. Be Commission identified no other compelling interest to justify its use of race 

when it drew the Enacted Plan. 

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Racial Gerrymandering  
in Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution  

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

358. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate by reference all prior paragraphs of this 

Complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

359. Be Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution provides in relevant part: “No 

State shall . . . deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” 

360. Under the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause, a racial classification 

is prohibited unless it is narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest. 

361. As alleged in detail above, race was the predominant factor in the design of all five 

Miami City Commission districts. Race predominated over all other redistricting criteria when 

each of these districts was drawn. 

362. Be use of race as the predominant factor in creating the districts was not narrowly 

tailored to advance any compelling state interests, including compliance with the VRA. 

363. Consequently, the districts do not survive strict scrutiny. 

364. Berefore, the districts violate Plaintiffs’ rights under the Equal Protection Clause 

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter judgment in their favor and: 
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A. Declare the five Miami City Commission districts adopted in Resolution 22-131 to 

be unconstitutional in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment as racially gerrymandered; 

B. Preliminarily and permanently enjoin the City and its officers and agents from 

calling, conducting, supervising, or certifying any elections under the Enacted Plan; 

C. Order the City to hold special elections to limit the harm to Plaintiffs should 

adequate relief be unavailable prior to the next regularly scheduled elections; 

D. Award each Plaintiff nominal damages of $100; 

E. Award Plaintiffs their attorneys’ fees in this action; 

F. Award Plaintiffs their costs of suit; 

G. Retain jurisdiction to render any further orders this Court may deem necessary; and 

H. Grant any other relief this Court deems just and proper. 

 
Respectfully submitted this 10th day of February, 2023, 

/s/ Nicholas L.V. Warren  
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